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REGENERATING NEW LANARK

‘What ideas individuals may attach to the term ‘Millennium’ I know not; but I know that society may be formed so as to exist without crime, without poverty, with health greatly improved, with little, if any misery, and with intelligence and happiness increased a hundredfold: and no obstacle whatsoever intervenes at this moment except ignorance to prevent such a state of society from becoming universal’. 

Robert Owen’s Address to the Inhabitants of New Lanark, on opening the Institute for the Formation of Character, New Year’s Day 1816

HISTORY

Founded towards the end of the 18th century in 1785 by David Dale, an enterprising Scotsman, New Lanark was one of the earliest water-powered cotton-manufacturing settlements. It survives as one of the world’s best preserved early industrial sites. The village has attracted international attention from its earliest years, at first as a wonder of the new industrial age, and then, under the enlightened management of Dale’s son-in-law Robert Owen, from 1800 - 1825, as a model community. Robert Owen was a careful manager, regarded by his workforce as strict but fair, but in this young man, the spirit of enterprise was allied to a passionate belief that the key to a better and fairer  society was education, and he embarked on what he later described as ‘the most important experiment for the happiness of the human race that has yet been instituted in any part of the world’. Owen set about improving and expanding the business, and he used the profits to finance a series of social and educational reforms designed to improve the quality of life for his workers. He did not allow young children to work in the cotton-mills: he established progressive schools for the village in a building known as the Institute for the Formation of Character, including the first infant school in the world, and evening classes.  There was great emphasis on musical activities, art, nature study, history and geography, as well as reading, writing and arithmetic; no punishment was allowed. In addition, the villagers had free medical care, the hours of work were reduced, and the Village Store provided food and household goods cheaply. Leisure and recreation were not forgotten; there were concerts, dancing, music making and pleasant landscaped areas for the benefit of the community of around 2,500 people.

DECLINE & CRISIS

Long after Robert Owen’s departure, the cotton-mills continued in production, still powered by the natural energy of the river, though the population declined sharply from its peak of 2,500 in 1820. Throughout the 20th century, the British cotton industry experienced a long slow decline, and finally in 1968, the New Lanark Mills closed down with the loss of 350 jobs.  The mill area of the industrial site, which included Robert Owen’s Institute and School, was sold to a scrap metal company. In 1963 ownership of the workers’ housing had been transferred to a registered housing association with charitable status, called New Lanark Association Ltd. The first  programme  of building restoration, a pilot project to create 16 refurbished apartments for rent in Caithness Row, was undertaken between 1965 and 1967. NLA had embarked on a second phase at Nursery Buildings when, in 1968, the closure of the mills caused a major crisis in confidence, and the project faltered. The housing association was in serious financial difficulties – a fund-raising campaign had failed, and it had a £100,000 debt to the Lanark Town Council. Further intervention by the public agencies and conservation bodies was required to halt, and to attempt to reverse, the already well established process of decline and decay. All the buildings were listed, Category A, and the village designated as an Outstanding Conservation Area. 

FORMATION OF NEW LANARK CONSERVATION TRUST

In 1974, following the publication of the Report of a Working Party set up to examine options for the future of the village, the New Lanark Conservation Trust was formed. This Trust, an independent charity, was charged with the challenging task of restoring and revitalising the historic village  as a sustainable community.  The following are its statutory obligations:

(a) the restoration and management of those buildings and others in and around New Lanark belonging to the Trust and the maintenance and development of any land and waterways or watercourses belonging to it;


(b) securing so far as is possible that buildings restored by the Trust shall be occupied and/or put to use with the aim of bringing about  the complete revitalisation of the village of New Lanark;


(c) stimulating public interest both national and international in the village of New Lanark and its surroundings by means of exhibitions, lectures and the publishing of books and pamphlets supporting research work and by the provision of facilities for visitors in and /or near the village;


(d) the formation of or assistance to any public museum or public-owned collection of local and national documents, records, artefacts, paintings, photographs or other antiques pertaining to the history of the village of New Lanark and/or the industrial development of Scotland;


(e) assisting New Lanark Association Limited which is a body recognised as charitable by the Inland Revenue, to secure the restoration of property owned by it in the village of New Lanark’.

A STRATEGY FOR REGENERATION

Under the direction of Jim Arnold, who was appointed in 1974, the Trust has pioneered a radial approach to heritage conservation and management. There are four main strands in the strategy designed to achieve the aim of keeping New Lanark as living, working community - housing, tourism, commercial property rental and hydro-electricity production. This complementary range of activities - tourism, housing, commercial tenancies and hydro-electric generation - helps to ensure that New Lanark remains a sustainable community with a resident population and a thriving economy. New Lanark Conservation Trust has two wholly-owned subsidiary companies to operate these commercial activities – New Lanark Trading Ltd. which runs the Visitor Centre and associated functions,  and New Lanark Hotels Ltd, which operates the hotel and self-catering accommodation. The Trustees of New Lanark Conservation are Directors of the two trading companies, but they receive no financial benefit from this status. All surpluses from  these commercial operations are returned by covenant to the Conservation Trust to support the continuing programme of restoration and development.  

By 2001, around 130 people were employed by the New Lanark Conservation Trust and its associated companies. Added to this are another 6o or so people employed in the various independent businesses which are based in New Lanark. This means that the regeneration of economic activity in New Lanark has produced employment for about 200 people, as well as many training places. This figure does not include people working on the building restoration projects, of which there have been thousands over the many years since the programme of rehabilitation began.

HOUSING

One of the objects laid down in the Trust deed was to assist the housing association, and the New Lanark Conservation Trust co-ordinates the programme of restoration and development. In the early 1960s, the housing had been purchased from the Mill Company for a nominal sum, and the Association embarked on a long-term programme of work to refurbish the housing for rent. Internally the buildings are completely modernised, with central heating, modern kitchens and bathrooms, and even a digital television signal (no external aerials or satellite dishes are permitted on the listed buildings)  but otherwise they retain their historic character. Today nearly 200 people live in New Lanark; there are 45 rented properties ranging from small two bedroom apartments to larger 3 bedroom houses. 20 of the housing units are owner-occupied. One more row of housing, Double Row, remains to be restored.  Some of the oldest residents of New Lanark have always lived in the village, and used to work in the cotton-mills. Other families have moved in more recently, and the villagers range in age from babies of a few months  to former mill-workers in their nineties!  Almost all of them are members of the New Lanark Village Group, which acts as a residents’ association, representing the views of the villagers on new plans and developments and day-to day matters, as well as arranging social activities for the community.

TOURISM & HOSPITALITY

New Lanark Conservation Trust is at the centre of a complex web of partnerships set up to channel funding into the project from a wide variety of sources. The main sources of funding in recent years have been the economic development section of the local government authority South Lanarkshire Council, the local enterprise company (Scottish Enterprise Lanarkshire), national government agencies such as Historic Scotland, and the European Union, through the Strathclyde European Partnership, the Heritage Lottery Fund, as well as many charitable trusts. The development of tourism has played a key role in the economic regeneration of New Lanark and the surrounding area. 

The Trust has created an imaginative Visitor Centre, which is open all year round, providing catering facilities and gift shops as well as extensive exhibition areas. Two new audio-visual presentations interpret the fascinating story of New Lanark: the ‘New Millennium Experience’ and ‘Annie McLeod’s Story’. The first is designed to highlight Robert Owen’s  far-sighted social and educational reforms which he expressly linked to the preparation of a better society for the new Millennium - in their emphasis on education, environment and health, his ideas and values are still amazingly relevant today. Visitors are taken on a journey, which explores the future of our society as well as the past. Their guide is a young girl named Harmony, who lives in the year 2200, and time travels back to New Lanark! The dazzling special effects make the ride enjoyable and accessible as well as informative. The second is in the newly restored School For Children, where in a dramatic audio-visual theatre presentation the ‘ghost’ of Annie McLeod, a 10 year old girl appears on stage to tell the story of life in New Lanark in 1820. In the ‘Saving New Lanark’ gallery, the story of the award-winning restoration programme is told, while in another of the beautiful, spacious rooms, where an original Musicians’ Gallery can be seen, one of the classrooms in Owen’s school has been recreated, based on the extensive documentary evidence available.  A significant proportion of the visitors to New Lanark come in organised educational groups from schools, colleges, universities and other organisations. The Trust employs a full-time Education Officer to ensure that such groups are provided with the resources and assistance they need to derive full benefit from their visit, and a wide variety of age groups and interests is catered for.

Particularly significant in terms of the growth of tourism was the development of accommodation for visitors in the New Lanark village. The first stage was the opening of the Wee Row Youth Hostel in 1994. One of the former blocks of millworkers' housing was restored and converted as a 60 bed Youth Hostel, with modern and comfortable facilities. This building is owned by the Conservation Trust, but leased to the Scottish Youth Hostels Association, which operates the Youth Hostel. 

The next, much more ambitious project was the opening of the New Lanark Mill Hotel in 1998. This involved the restoration of Mill No. One, a working cotton-mill until 1968, and by the 1980s in serious danger of total collapse. The project succeeded in transforming this completely derelict and dangerous mill building into a comfortable 38 bedroom hotel with self-catering accommodation in the adjacent Waterhouses.  The Hotel and Waterhouses are owned and operated by New Lanark Conservation Trust, through its operating company New Lanark Hotels Ltd. New Lanark has over many years offered extensive employment training opportunities  through a range of schemes. Its continued commitment to education and training is demonstrated by the provision of training places in the New Lanark Mill Hotel, thanks to a partnership with a local College of Further Education.

COMMERCIAL PROPERTY RENTAL

New Lanark now attracts around 350,000 visitors a year from all over the world. Tourism is the most important revenue generator for New Lanark Conservation Trust,  but it is essential  in rural Scotland to engage in activities which will complement the seasonal nature of tourism; these help to diversify the economy of the village, and offer employment opportunities for local people in businesses and trades other than tourism. Some buildings, such as the former Mechanics' Workshop, have been converted into office, workshop and retail space for renting out as commercial  premises. Currently there are various businesses based in New Lanark ranging from book publishing and interior furnishings, to knitwear retail and information technology, as well as administrative offices for the Forestry Commission in Scotland.  One part of the old Mill  Dyeworks is leased by the Scottish Wildlife Trust, another charitable trust; SWT owns and manages the beautiful Falls of Clyde Wildlife Reserve which lies upstream from the village, and which is an additional attraction for visitors.

HYDRO-ELECTRICITY GENERATION

From the beginning, the mills were powered by the natural energy of the river Clyde.  This natural energy has been harnessed once again, with the restoration of the original mill lade and a 1930s water turbine, which with the addition of modern generating plant is once more producing hydro​-electricity - a Eurosolar award for the application of renewable energy has been added to the list of New Lanark's achievements in the 1990s. It is both historically appropriate and environmentally beneficial that the Trust should have reinstated the mills’  water-power systems in this way. 

A SUSTAINABLE FUTURE

The story of New Lanark continues into the 21st century as it began in the 18th century - with a spirit of enterprise allied to a vision for the future. New Lanark is widely recognised as a cultural heritage site of international significance - in 2001,  New Lanark was inscribed on UNESCO’s list of World Heritage Sites. It remains, as it always has been, a living, working community, which welcomes visitors from all over the world. 

For more information, visit  www. newlanark.org  and www.robert-owen.com 

e-mail:  trust@newlanark.org         tel: 00 44  1555 661345        fax: 00 44 1555 665738

Recommended Reading: 

· ‘The Nomination of New Lanark for Inclusion in the World Heritage List’, Historic Scotland, 2000. This contains a useful bibliography.  ISBN 1 903570 00 X.

· ‘Historic New Lanark’  Donnachie & Hewitt, Edinburgh University Press, 1993. A comprehensive history of the site from the 1780s – 1990.     ISBN 0 7486 0420  0 - 

· A CD ROM is available with information and images recording the Social Legacy of Owen, and the Restoration of the buildings, published by SCRAN (the Scottish Cultural Resources Access Network) in 2001. 

· An extensive list of resources and publications available by mail order can be found on the New Lanark website www.newlanark.org.
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